
CITY OF MAYER  
REGULAR CITY COUNCIL MEETING 

 CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
MONDAY, MAY 13, 2019 

6:30 PM 

AGENDA 

1. Call Meeting to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Approval of Agenda

4. Public Comment (Please limit comments to 5 minutes)

5. Consent Agenda
A. Minutes

1. April 22, 2019 City Council Meeting Minutes
2. April 22, 2019 City Council Workshop Meeting Minutes

B. Claims

C. Ordinance Summary – Animals – Resolution 05-13-19-17

D. Liquor License – Off Sale – FillMeUp

E. Hiring of Firefighter – Justin Hecksel – Resolution 05-13-19-18

6. Reports and Recommendations of City Departments, Consultants, Commissions and Committees
A. Administrative

1. Novel Energy
2. Cleaning Services – City Hall/Community Center

B. Planning and Zoning
1. 505 Shimmcor Site Plan Review – Resolution 05-13-19-19

7. City Council Reports

8. Other Business

9. Upcoming Meetings & Events
May 14, 2019 Park Commission Meeting
May 28, 2019 City Council Meeting (Tuesday – Due to Memorial Day)

10. For Your Information

1



May 7, 2019 Planning Commission Minutes  
 

11. Adjournment  

2



MAYER CITY COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES – APRIL 22, 2019  
Call Regular meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. by Mayor Dodge 
 
PRESENT: Mayor Dodge, Council Members McNeilly, and Stieve-McPadden  
ABSENT:   Council Members Boder and Butterfield  
STAFF:  City Administrator McCallum, Deputy Clerk Gildemeister, Public Works Kuntz and Hilgers. City 
Attorney Sullivan and City Engineer Martini.  
ALSO PRESENT:   Don Wachholz, Kaye Timmers, Kathy Johnson, Joe Dvorak, Jenny Nace, Rick Masloski 
(Novel Energy), Jim Koerber (T4 Solutions), Brenda Lano (Carver County CDA). 
 
The meeting was opened with the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
APPROVE AGENDA 
A MOTION was made by Council Member McNeilly with a second by Council Member Stieve-McPadden to 
approve the agenda as presented. Motion Carried 3/0 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT 
None 
 
APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA 
A MOTION was made by Council Member McNeilly with a second by Council Member Stieve-McPadden to 
approve the Consent Agenda.  Motion Carried 3/0.    

1. Approve the Minutes of the April 8, 2019 Regular Council Meeting. 
2. Approve Claims for the Month of April 2019. Check numbers 22221 to 22238. E-Check numbers 5237E 

to 5250E. 
3. Reports from City Administrator, City Engineer, Sheriff Department, Public Works and Fire 

Department.  
 

ADMINISTRATION 
 

1. National Night Out – August 6, 2019 – McCallum introduced this item stating that National Night Out 
is an annual event that seeks to being together neighborhoods and police partnerships. It enhances 
relationships and creates safer communities. McCallum introduced residents, Jenny Nace, Kathy 
Johnson and Joe Dvorak (Lions Club) to the Council.  

 
Johnson thanked the Council for allowing them to come to the meeting. She said that last year’s event 
located in the parking lot of City Hall was a huge success. She said that she was glad to see Council 
show up to the event. She said that they are starting to prepare for the 2019 event with a co-sponsorship 
from the Mayer Lions Club. Johnson said that they are looking to add more amenities for kids, more 
food, and possibly a band.  
 
Johnson asked if the City would support the event again in the City Hall parking lot location from 6:00 – 
8:00 pm. on August 6, 2019. She inquired into using the City’s electricity connection again and the 
garbage can. They are hoping to coordinate with the Sheriff’s Department and Fire Department to make 
a presence at the event. She also asked if the City could help with social media and publicity for the 
event.  
 
Dodge agreed that the City could provide support where it can including promoting the event, the 
electricity, garbage service and presence at the event.  

3



 
2. Novel Energy – McCallum introduced Rick Masloski from Novel Energy to present on the Minnesota 

Community Solar Garden Program. Masloski began by introducing himself and the company, Novel 
Energy. He informed that the community solar garden program was create in 2013 with direction from 
the Minnesota State Legislature and is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission.  

 
He informed that Novel energy has a solar garden located near Lester Prairie in McCloed County that 
they are looking for subscribers to utilize. He said that the City of Mayer would be an ideal candidate. 
He said that upon looking at the City’s current electricity usage for its facilities, that the City would take 
up 33% of the farm if subscribed. He explained that it would be $0 upfront and that there is no 
production risk and no pricing risk in that the City would be guaranteed a discount regardless.  
 
Masloski said that the solar farm feeds into the Xcel Energy grid.  
 
He estimated that if the City did the 8 year term with the 2 year term replacement period (10 years) for a 
discount rate of a penny per kilowatt hour (kWh), that the estimated saving would be about $5,700/year 
for 25 years.  
 
Masloski went over the environmental benefits of the City supporting solar.  
 
He went over the payment process stressing that the subscription rate will always remain one cent below 
the VOS bill credit rate.  
 
Dodge explained that the City had been approached in the past by a company offering a similar 
subscription to an off-site solar farm. The Council discussed the differences between this contract and 
the proposal from years back. They concluded that the agreement was different in many aspects and that 
the previous proposal included a lot of uncertainty. They agreed that this proposal offered solutions to 
the uncertain elements.  
 
Dodge asked if staff could provide and bring back some additional information including the differences 
between the previous proposal and this current one. He also asked if staff could provide information on 
other farms in Carver County and if there would be more of a benefit to support a farm within the same 
County as the City.  
 
Council agreed that this could be a benefit to the City and wanted this to come back soon to a future 
meeting for further discussion with additional information.  

 
3. Carver County Community Development Agency – Land Trust – McCallum introduced this item 

stating that the Carver County Community Development Agency administers the Community Land 
Trust program for the County. She informed that the CDA is hoping to expand the program throughout 
Carver County in cities that are interested. She said that currently, the program has 28 homes within the 
land trust mostly in the City of Chaska. They are expanding with a few more homes in Waconia and 
Victoria.  

 
McCallum introduced Brenda Lano from the CDA to explain the program further. Lano explained the 
program to the Council stating that they are looking for support from Carver County cities to expand 
their program. The program helps to provide homeownership to people who would like to live in Carver 
County communities but need some support to make the purchasing of a home affordable.  
 

4



Lano informed that Mayer, over the last few years, has not had affordable housing options based on 
affordability standards. She said that the cost of housing continues to increase. She said that the program 
helps by bringing properties into the land trust program and making properties affordable. They work 
with the cities to create a partnership.  
 
Dodge asked if the program focused on new or existing homes. Lano said both.  
 
Dodge said that it seems like a great idea and that he likes the model. He said that he would like more 
information and discussion between the Council on what they would have to provide within the 
partnership. For example, money, reduced fees, etc. He wants more information on what other 
communities offer.  
 
Lano informed that some cities do nothing, while some offer between $5,000 - $10,000 in gap funding 
support. She explained that some communities require developers to participate properties into the 
program through density requirements. Chaska negotiated within a TIF district.  
 
Lano said the first step would be to get overall City support for the program to come into the City. Lano 
provided information on the types of people they help including, first time homebuyers, seniors who 
downsized, people who work in the community but need financial assistance to live there, etc.  
 
Dodge suggested that this be brought to the EDA for informational purposes and to see if there would be 
interest from the EDA to support this program as well. He said that then it should be brought back to 
Council for additional discussion.  

 
PUBLIC WORKS 
 

1. Hiring for Seasonal Position – Resolution 4-22-19-17 
 

McCallum informed that the City recently approved the hiring of a seasonal employee for 30 hours per 
week for 13 weeks at $12.00 per hour. The City received 5 applications and interviewed 2 of the applicants. 
McCallum said that staff is recommending William Devine for the position and asked that the Council pass 
resolution 4-22-19-17 supporting his hiring.  
 
Stieve-McPadden moved to approve Resolution 4-22-19-17 for the hiring of William Devine for the 
seasonal public works position. McNeilly seconded. Motion passed 3-0.  
 
2. Sewer Jetting and Televising Proposal – Yearly Maintenance 

 
Kuntz stated that staff is proposing to have about 15,000 linear feet of the sanitary sewer line jetted and 
televised by Overline and Sons in the amount of $17,293.28. He informed that the scheduled sewer line 
areas include: Ash Ave N and S, Canary Avenue, 2nd Street NW, Co Road 30, 4th Street NE, West Ridge 
Road, Ridge Road and Hidden Creek Phases 1 and 2. He said that this is annual maintenance. He said that 
the City budgeted $25,000 for the maintenance.  
 
McNeilly moved to approve the project and cost of $17,293.28 from Overline and Sons to perform the 
sewer line jetting and television of the scheduled areas. Stieve-McPadden seconded. Motion passed 3-
0.  
 

5



COUNCIL REPORTS 
• Dodge congratulated Kuntz on passing his Wastewater A License Test.  
• McNeilly said that the Park Commission held a visioning session for the City of Mayer parks and that it 

was very informative and useful. Dodge suggested a joint Council/Commission meeting in the future.  
 
ADJOURN 
There being no further business, a MOTION was made by Council Member McNeilly and seconded by Council 
Member Stieve-McPadden to adjourn the meeting at 8:05 p.m.  Motion Carried 3/0 

 
 

                           _________________________________ 
                                  Mike Dodge, Mayor 

 
Attest: ______________________________ 
     Margaret McCallum, City Adminstrator  

6



MAYER CITY COUNCIL WORK SESSION MINUTES – APRIL 22, 2019 
 
Call Work Session to order at 8:05 p.m. by Mayor Dodge. 
 
PRESENT: Mayor Dodge, Council Members Stieve-McPadden and McNeilly  
ABSENT:  Council Member Boder and Butterfield  
STAFF:  City Administrator McCallum. Public Works Kuntz.  
ALSO PRESENT:  Jim Koerber (T4 Solutions) and Don Wachholz,  

 
1. Grocery Delivery Lockers – T4 Solutions – Jim Koerber 

Jim Koerber of T4 Solutions presented on Temperature Controlled Grocery Lockers. His 
presentation included the lockers being a solution for grocery delivery to the City of Mayer 
which doesn’t have a grocery store. It would allow for residents to order from a grocery store in 
a neighboring city and to pick up their groceries when they are able to. The lockers are 
refrigerated and have freezer sections as well.  
 
Koerber said that this is a relatively new concept and new business. They are still working on the 
partnership that could be had between grocery stores, the City and the company to install the 
lockers in needed locations. He explained that the City could purchase and own it, the grocery 
store could, or there could be a partnership between the two.  
 
McNeilly said that is seemed like a good alternative for residents because delivery of groceries 
usually requires the residents to be home. Dodge wanted the Koerber to reach out to local 
grocers to see if there was interest from them to participate. She said that maybe the City would 
be interested in a partnership. Dodge wanted more information about working together with local 
stores. McNeilly agreed. 

 
2. Winter Street Parking   

McCallum provided information that was requested by Council that included what other cities do 
regarding code enforcement.  
 
Dodge explained that he did not see a need to change the code at this time. He said suggested the 
staff wait a year and reassess after the Public Works Department takes on the snow plowing next 
winter season. McNeilly agreed.  
  

3. Utility Ponds use for Irrigation – Direction  
McCallum presented this item as one that was presented to a City Council member recently. She 
informed that a resident had asked if this was a possibility. McCallum said that she talked with 
City staff about irrigation through the utility ponds, nonetheless that staff felt that while it was 
possible, advised to not. The reason being that it would require oversite and that the reuse of the 
pond water could cause more growth of algae, etc. due to more runoff chemicals going into the 
ponds. In addition, the residents would have to be cognizant of the water level of the pond.  
 
Council agreed that this came to them a few years ago as well and decided then to not allow it. 
They agreed to continue not allowing this.  
 
Dodge said that he would like to see more coming to the Council soon regarding a pond 
maintenance plan. He said that maybe at that time, this topic could be revisited.  
 

7



4. Payment Service Network – Utility Payment Software –  
McCallum provided a summary about changing utility payment software programs from 
GovPayNet to Payment Service Network. She explained that the benefits would include the 
ability for residents to have more informational tools and resources accessible to them. This 
includes payment history and usage history. It also includes real time billing information. This 
information is currently not available to residents. The PSN Software would also integrate into 
the City’s utility software, allowing the transfer for data instead of manual data input. PSN 
would also allow for more payment options online as well as in person.  
 
McCallum reviewed the payment options and fees with the Council with the current software and 
proposed software. She informed that the City would need to decide if they would maintain 
having customers pay the processing fees, if the City would share the cost or take on the entire 
cost.  
 
Council liked the idea of switching the software from GovPayNet to Payment Service Network. 
They requested more data information on how much money would be saved in the transition, 
what the transition plan looked like and how we would educate residents on the change. Staff 
agreed to provide the additional information at an upcoming meeting.  

 
MEETING ADJOURNED 
There being no further business, the work session was adjourned at 8:51 p.m. 

 
 

                           _______________________________ 
                                 Mike Dodge, Mayor 

Attest: ______________________________ 
            Margaret McCallum, City Administrator  

8



22250 Visa PW Tools and Equipment, Lodging - PW Conference $651.22
22251 MN Pollution Control Agency Kyle Kuntz_Class A Certification $45.00
22252 Bureau of Criminal Affairs Backgound Check- Fire Dept. $15.00
22253 Robert Wolf Utility Reimbursement $162.80

American Legal Publishing Codification of Ordinances - 2016-2018 $2,718.40
Aquafix WWTF Chemicals $390.21
Bobs Repair of Mayer Purchase of new mower $11,344.00
Grainger WWTF Drum $288.67
Tom Goepfert On Call Pay $100.00
Greater America Financial Services April Copier Lease $188.63
Greater MN Communications April Utility Billing & Newsletters $948.20
Hach Company WWTF $4,907.50
Herald Journal Publishing Ordinance Publications - 227 & 228 $257.76
Kevin Nace Fire Dept - Johnstone Supply - Gas Inspector Device $188.16
Kyle Kuntz Mileage Reimbursement - Conferences $389.64
Andy Maetzold Mileage Reimbursement - State FD Conference $66.24
Rod Maetzold Mileage and Lodging Reimbursement - State FD Con $879.44
Midwest Electric Community Center Shut Down & Repair/Generator Install $600.00
United Farmers Cooperative Safety Vest, Tubing and Air Plug $70.12
Widmer Construction Snow Removal, Brush/Compost Removal $2,867.50
Metro West Inspection Finaled Permits - March 2019 $4,168.97
Margaret McCallum Mileage - EDA Class and Conferences $303.92

5251E ADP LLC ACH Processing Fee - Payroll 7 $168.58
5252E ADP LLC ACH Processing Fee - Payroll 8 $85.98
5253E ADP LLC Employee Payroll $6,433.05
5254E ADP LLC Payroll Taxes $2,682.28
5255E PERA Employee PERA Benefits $1,269.02
5256E ADP LLC Employee Payroll $6,433.05
5257E ADP LLC Payroll Taxes $2,699.56
5258E Security Bank ACH Fee for April 2019 $21.56
5259E Delta Dental of MN Employee Dental Benefits $261.10

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE LIST 
May 13, 2019 

Checks: 22250 - ___________, 5251E - 5267E

9



5260E Preferred One Employee Health Benefits $4,142.35
5261E Frontier WWTF - Internet $98.18
5262E frontier WTP - Internet $80.87
5263E Verizon Wireless OSH Lift Station $14.83
5264E Verizon Wireless FD Cell/Tablet $41.19
5265E Verizon Wireless City Cell Phones $243.57
5266E Xcel Energy Public Facilities/Lights $6,243.91
5267E PERA Employee PERA Benefits $1,323.61

$63,794.07

10



Resolution 05-13-19-17 
ORDINANCE NO. 230 

 
CITY OF MAYER 

CARVER COUNTY, MINNESOTA 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE IX: GENERAL REGULATIONS CHAPTER 92: ANIMALS, 
SECTION 92.01 DEFINITIONS, SECTION 92.02 DOGS AND CATS, SECTION 92.04 IMPOUNDING, 
SECTION 92 DISEASED ANIMALS 
 

OFFICIAL SUMMARY 
 

MAY 13, 2019 
 

 The following is the official summary of Ordinance No. 230 of the City of Mayer adopted 
on April 8, 2019, pertaining to animal licensing.  
 
 The City of Mayer has amended Title IX: General regulations Chapter 92: Animals, 
section 92.01 Definitions, Section 92.02 Dogs and Cats, Section 92.04 Impounding and Section 
92 Diseased Animals as it relates to animal licensing.  
 
 The City has amended sections of the code to no longer require animal licensing in the 
City of Mayer.   
 
A PRINTED COPY OF THIS ENTIRE ORDINANCE IS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION AND REVIEW BY 
ANY PERSON AT THE OFFICE OF CITY HALL OF THE CITY OF MAYER LOCATED AT 413 BLUEJAY 
AVENUE, MAYER, MINNESOTA 55360.  
 
_________________________________________ 
Margaret McCallum, City Administrator 
Published in the _________________________ on ___________________, 2019.  

11



Request for Council Action Memorandum 
 
Item: Off-Sale Liquor License – Fill Me Up Convenience Store  - 308 Ash Avenue 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2019   
Presented By: Margaret McCallum, City Administrator 
 
Recommendations/Council Action/Motion Requested: 
A motion to approve an off-sale liquor license for the time period of May 13, 2019  – February 28, 2020 
for Fill Me Up Convenience Store.    
 
Details: 
Fill Me Up will be located at 308 Ash Avenue (Currently Schmidty’s Convenience Store). The owner 
currently has an agreement to purchase the property.  
 
Liquor licenses will be issued upon approval by the State of Minnesota, Alcohol and Gambling Division 
and upon all conditions of licensing being met in accordance with the City of Mayer ordinances. This 
includes appropriate fee for each establishment will be paid, certificate of insurance and background 
checks will be completed by Carver County Sheriff’s Department.  
 
Staff is recommending the approval of the Fill Me Up Off-Sale liquor license from May 13, 2019 – 
February 28, 2020. The background check came back fine.   
 
Attachments:  
None.    

12



CITY OF MAYER, MINNESOTA 
 

RESOLUTION 05-13-19-18 
 

A RESOLUTION REGARDING THE APPOINTMENT OF JUSTIN HECKSEL TO THE MAYER FIRE 
DEPARTMENT 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Mayer made the decision to appoint members to the Fire Department,  

 
WHEREAS, the City and Fire Department need Firefighters, 

 
WHEREAS, a background check was completed by the State of Minnesota, Department of Public Safety, 

Bureau of Criminal Apprehension,  
 

WHEREAS, Justin Hecksel has passed all requirements of the Mayer Fire Department and the Fire Chief is 
recommending the appointment of Justin Hecksel  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the City Council of the City of Mayer, Minnesota, that Justin 

Hecksel start as a firefighter for the Mayer Fire Department upon approval.  
 

Adopted this May 13, 2019 by the Mayer City Council.  
 
 

Attest: 
 
 

_________________________________    __________________________ 
Margaret McCallum, City Administrator     Mike Dodge, Mayor  

13



Memorandum 
 
Item: Novel Energy Solutions – Solar Program   
 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2019   
Presented By: Margaret McCallum, City Administrator  
 
Details: 
At the April 22, 2019 City Council meeting, Novel Energy presented information on a Value of Solar 
Program for the City of Mayer.  
 
In 2013, Minnesota legislation directed Minneapolis-based utility, Xcel Energy, to create a program for 
Community Solar Gardens (CSGs). The program is regulated by MN Public Utility Commission.  
 
The program is referred to as the Value of Solar (VOS) Program. Under the program, Xcel Energy remains 
the customer’s electricity provider. Bill credits are issued on the Xcel Energy invoice based on the 
subscription amount. There is no cost to the subscriber.  
 
The Xcel Energy Value of Solar Program Bill Credit rate for 2018 projects is 9.76/kWh cents and will 
escalate each year for 25 years at a fixed rate of 2.27%.  
 
The Customer’s Subscription rate will always be a half cent or 1 cent below the VOS Bill Credit Rate, thus 
guaranteeing a half cent or 1 cent/kWh savings. It is $0 upfront, No pricing risk and No production risk.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Power from CSG supports 
Xcel’s Grid 

You get a credit from XCEL 
based on your share of 

production 

Xcel 

Local 
 

Subscriber 
You pay CSG at a 

discounted rate to your 
credit 

14



The solar garden that the City of Mayer would use is located outside of Lester Prairie in McLoed County. 
The City was offered a one cent/kWh discount: 8 year contract, 2-year replacement period, NES finds 
replacements, extends to 25 years.  
 

• No Cost to you 
• Guaranteed Savings(1 cent/kWh-about 10%) 
• Xcel remains your energy provider 
• Flexible Terms- 8 year option 
• Supporting the Environment 

 
The City of Mayer would (based on average annual usage) subscribe to 597,779 kWhs at 1 cent/kWh. 
This is estimated to produce an annual savings of about $5,700/year.  
 

Year Total Project Energy 
Production 

Subscriber Energy 
Production Bill Credit Rate  Estimated Total Bill 

Credit     Subscription Rate  Subscription 
Payments  

 Estimated Annual 
Savings 

  (kWh) (kWh) ($/kWh)  ($/yr)  ($/kWh) ($/yr) ($/yr) 
1 1,785,000 597,779 $0.09760  $58,343  $0.08760  $52,365  $5,978  
2 1,776,075 594,790 $0.09980  $59,360  $0.08980  $53,412  $5,948  
3 1,767,195 591,816 $0.10210  $60,424  $0.09210  $54,506  $5,918  
4 1,758,359 588,857 $0.10440  $61,477  $0.09440  $55,588  $5,889  
5 1,749,567 585,912 $0.10670  $62,517  $0.09670  $56,658  $5,859  
6 1,740,819 582,983 $0.10920  $63,662  $0.09920  $57,832  $5,830  
7 1,732,115 580,068 $0.11170  $64,794  $0.10170  $58,993  $5,801  
8 1,723,454 577,167 $0.11420  $65,913  $0.10420  $60,141  $5,772  
9 1,714,837 574,282 $0.11680  $67,076  $0.10680  $61,333  $5,743  

10 1,706,263 571,410 $0.11940  $68,226  $0.10940  $62,512  $5,714  
11 1,697,732 568,553 $0.12210  $69,420  $0.11210  $63,735  $5,686  
12 1,689,243 565,710 $0.12490  $70,657  $0.11490  $65,000  $5,657  
13 1,680,797 562,882 $0.12770  $71,880  $0.11770  $66,251  $5,629  
14 1,672,393 560,067 $0.13060  $73,145  $0.12060  $67,544  $5,601  
15 1,664,031 557,267 $0.13360  $74,451  $0.12360  $68,878  $5,573  
16 1,655,711 554,481 $0.13660  $75,742  $0.12660  $70,197  $5,545  
17 1,647,432 551,708 $0.13970  $77,074  $0.12970  $71,557  $5,517  
18 1,639,195 548,950 $0.14290  $78,445  $0.13290  $72,955  $5,489  
19 1,630,999 546,205 $0.14620  $79,855  $0.13620  $74,393  $5,462  
20 1,622,844 543,474 $0.14950  $81,249  $0.13950  $75,815  $5,435  
21 1,614,730 540,757 $0.15290  $82,682  $0.14290  $77,274  $5,408  
22 1,606,656 538,053 $0.15630  $84,098  $0.14630  $78,717  $5,381  
23 1,598,623 535,363 $0.15990  $85,604  $0.14990  $80,251  $5,354  
24 1,590,630 532,686 $0.16350  $87,094  $0.15350  $81,767  $5,327  
25 1,582,677 530,022 $0.16720  $88,620  $0.15720  $83,320  $5,300  

         Estimated Total Savings   $140,812  
 
 
Novel is a local company from Minnesota with offices in St. Paul, Minnesota.  
 

15



The model aims to combine the environmental and cost benefits of large scale solar energy production 
with the individual cost savings of rooftop and ground mount direct solar generation.  
 
Historical Solar Farm Consideration and Discussion – 2015 
In April, 2015, the City Council was approached by a company by the name of SunShare. They presented 
a proposal for the City to subscribe to their solar garden program.  
 
The proposal from Sunshare planned to use 100% solar energy for the City of Mayer. There was no 
upfront cost and according to SunShare minimal risk (25 years).  
 
It would have been a 78 kW subscription, $0.11 per-kWh SunShare solar electricity rate and 0% annual 
escalation on SunShare Rate. They stated that the benefits to Mayer would be about $950 in savings per 
year, $182,150 cumulative savings and $0 down.  
 
A presentation was made at the April 27, 2015 City Council workshop. It was tabled and asked to be 
brought to the next meeting.  
 
In July, 2015, the City Council met with SolarStone to discuss installing their own panels at the 
Wastewater Treatment Plant.  
 
In July, 2015, the Planning Commission looked at an Ordinance that added language regarding solar 
farms and community solar energy systems (SES). The Ordinance Public Hearing was called for August 4, 
2015.  
 
The City Council approved Ordinance 201 Solar Energy on August 10, 2015 to regulate solar farms. The 
ordinance added definitions for solar energy systems and also allowed solar energy systems in districts 
as either a permitted accessory use or interim use.  The Council felt that it is in the public interest to 
encourage the use and development of renewable energy systems that have a positive impact on energy 
conservation with limited adverse impact on nearby properties.  
 
In August 2016, a representative from US Solar discussed an agreement with the City of Mayer. The 
Council agreed to review the agreement.  
 
At the September 12, 2016 meeting, the City Attorney provided a memorandum on US Solar (see 
attachment).  
 
It mentioned that the agreement was a 20-year agreement with US Solar. The attorney recommended at 
the time to seek out and receive at least 2 solar proposals. The memo also mentioned that in the first 
year of the agreement, the City would have been “under water”, meaning that the City would be paying 
more to US Solar (initially) per kWh than it would be receiving in credit back. It explained that there was 
no assurances that the bill credit rate would increase over the life of the US Solar Agreement. US Solar 
couldn’t make certain that the city would provide an economic benefit by entering into the Agreement.  

16



“The City is essentially buying a hedge against increased NSP electric utility rates on the assumption that 
any increase in the NSP utility rates approved by the MPUC will also include an increased bull credit to 
the City.” There was no certainty that it would occur and it was seen as a risk to the City.  
 
At the meeting, the Council decided not to enter into a contract with US Solar based on comments from 
the City Attorney.  
 

 
Attachments:  
City Attorney Memo on U.S. Solar  
Previous U.S. Solar Proposal 
Novel Energy Presentation 
Proposed Novel Energy Agreement – Attorney and Staff Reviewed  
Solar Energy News Article.  

17



Minnesota Community Solar Garden Program
4/15/19 

118



2

• This Community Solar Garden (CSG) program was created in 2013 with direction from 
Minnesota Legislature and is regulated by the Public Utilities Commission

• $0 upfront

• No pricing risk- guaranteed $[Discount Rate]/kWh discount

• No production risk

• Solar panels are located off-site and you still receive power from Xcel
• A Subscription amount of 597,779 kWhs will produce an estimated savings of about 

$5,700/year.

Discount Rate Initial Term* Term Replacement Period

Option 1 $0.01 / kWh 8 Year 2 Year

Option 2 $0.005 / kWh 5 Year 2 Year

*You can choose to take advantage of these savings for up to 25 years

Community Solar is an opportunity to save money over the next 25 years, help protect the environment and support 
local business19



Buhl Hog Farm (250 KW)

About Novel Energy Solutions (NES)

3

 Leading Minnesota integrated energy management company which includes complementary businesses--
community solar garden development, solar project construction, solar project finance and energy conservation

 Founded in 2011 by Cliff, Ralph and Mena Kaehler.  The Kaehler family are active farmers (Purebred cattle) with 
over a hundred and thirty years of history in the southern Minnesota area.

 Novel Energy Solutions (“NES”) are leaders in the Minnesota solar market

20



 The Community Solar Garden model aims to combine the environmental and cost benefits of large scale solar 
energy production with the individual cost savings of rooftop or ground mount direct solar generation

 Participating local businesses, organizations and residents can manage electric costs with no upfront     
investment and no production risk

 In 2013, Minnesota legislation directed Minneapolis-based utility, Xcel Energy, to create a program for 
community solar gardens (“CSGs”). The program is regulated by the MN Public Utility Commission

• Each CSG must have a minimum of five subscribers 
with no one subscriber accounting for more than 
40% of generation

• CSG subscribers must be located in the garden’s 
county or adjacent counties

• CSG subscribers receive bill credits from Xcel based 
on their subscription size

• Subscribers to NES gardens benefit from fixed 
electricity rates savings 

• NES Subscription anticipated 10% savings

Community Solar Garden Program

Power from CSG 
supports Xcel’s Grid

You get a credit from 
XCEL based on your 
share of production

Xcel Energy

Local Community 
Solar Garden Subscriber

You pay CSG at a discounted 
rate to your credit

421



 Opportunity to lock in Savings
• The 2018 VOS bill credit is $0.0976/kWh with annual escalation of 2.27%
• Subscription rate for the first year is set based on a one cent/kWh discount to the VOS rate 

on the commercial operations date of the applicable CSG
• In future years the subscription rate WILL always remain one cent below the VOS bill 

credit rate.
• Billing is monthly and the City of Mayer will only pay for electrical credits actually received

 Creates environmental marketing opportunities 
• The City of Mayer can support green energy AND lower electricity rates
• Can be an important marketing tool, now and particularly in the future as more pressure is 

put on organizations for environmental leadership

 Assignment and Termination
• Allows assignment of contract to new subscriber at limited, administrative charge 
• Lowered termination fees in the event of moving business and no termination fees if 

terminated due to NES fault

 NES is open to discussing the City of Mayer’s needs and priorities and creating a custom 
subscription solution

Subscription Opportunity

Subscription 
Pricing

Additional 
Benefits

Other Terms

Flexibility

522



6

Year Total Project Energy 
Production

Subscriber Energy 
Production Bill Credit Rate Estimated Total Bill 

Credit    Subscription Rate Subscription Payments Estimated Annual Savings

(kWh) (kWh) ($/kWh) ($/yr) ($/kWh) ($/yr) ($/yr)

1 1,785,000 597,779 $0.09760 $58,343 $0.08760 $52,365 $5,978 

2 1,776,075 594,790 $0.09980 $59,360 $0.08980 $53,412 $5,948 

3 1,767,195 591,816 $0.10210 $60,424 $0.09210 $54,506 $5,918 

4 1,758,359 588,857 $0.10440 $61,477 $0.09440 $55,588 $5,889 

5 1,749,567 585,912 $0.10670 $62,517 $0.09670 $56,658 $5,859 

6 1,740,819 582,983 $0.10920 $63,662 $0.09920 $57,832 $5,830 

7 1,732,115 580,068 $0.11170 $64,794 $0.10170 $58,993 $5,801 

8 1,723,454 577,167 $0.11420 $65,913 $0.10420 $60,141 $5,772 

9 1,714,837 574,282 $0.11680 $67,076 $0.10680 $61,333 $5,743 

10 1,706,263 571,410 $0.11940 $68,226 $0.10940 $62,512 $5,714 

11 1,697,732 568,553 $0.12210 $69,420 $0.11210 $63,735 $5,686 

12 1,689,243 565,710 $0.12490 $70,657 $0.11490 $65,000 $5,657 

13 1,680,797 562,882 $0.12770 $71,880 $0.11770 $66,251 $5,629 

14 1,672,393 560,067 $0.13060 $73,145 $0.12060 $67,544 $5,601 

15 1,664,031 557,267 $0.13360 $74,451 $0.12360 $68,878 $5,573 

16 1,655,711 554,481 $0.13660 $75,742 $0.12660 $70,197 $5,545 

17 1,647,432 551,708 $0.13970 $77,074 $0.12970 $71,557 $5,517 

18 1,639,195 548,950 $0.14290 $78,445 $0.13290 $72,955 $5,489 

19 1,630,999 546,205 $0.14620 $79,855 $0.13620 $74,393 $5,462 

20 1,622,844 543,474 $0.14950 $81,249 $0.13950 $75,815 $5,435 

21 1,614,730 540,757 $0.15290 $82,682 $0.14290 $77,274 $5,408 

22 1,606,656 538,053 $0.15630 $84,098 $0.14630 $78,717 $5,381 

23 1,598,623 535,363 $0.15990 $85,604 $0.14990 $80,251 $5,354 

24 1,590,630 532,686 $0.16350 $87,094 $0.15350 $81,767 $5,327 

25 1,582,677 530,022 $0.16720 $88,620 $0.15720 $83,320 $5,300 

Estimated Total Savings $140,812 

23



Environmental Equivalencies Calculator

7

Pounds of coal burned Barrels of oil 
consumed

Passenger vehicles 
driven for 1 year

462,128 979 89.7

Source: www.epa.gov/energy/greenhouse-gas-equivalencies-calculator24



8

NES Project Counties

Subscription Eligible Counties 

County

Benton

Chisago

Dodge

Douglas

Le Sueur

McLeod

Olmstead

Renville

Stearns

Waseca

Washington

Winona

25



Lead Contact:

Rick Masloski, Business Development Exec.
612-817-6200
rick.masloski@novelenergy.biz

Additional Contact:

Cliff Kaehler, CEO
507-272-5401
cliff.kaehler@novelenergy.biz

Winona, MN (350 KW)

Contacts

926



VOS Commercial 
Solar Garden Subscription Agreement 

 
 
This Solar Garden Subscription Agreement is entered into on ________________________. 
 
Customer, City of Mayer (the “Customer”), agrees to subscribe to a community solar garden (“CSG”) 
provided under the MN Value of Solar (“VOS”) solar subscription program in accordance with Novel 
Energy Solutions L.L.C. (the “Provider”) VOS Terms and Conditions set forth herein. 
 
Customer wishes to subscribe to and Provider will reserve a maximum of 33 % (the “Percentage 
Allocation”) of the monthly electricity output from the CSG for an estimated total Subscription 
Amount of 469 kilowatts (“KW”), which is estimated to produce up to 597,779 kilowatt hours (“kWhs”) 
of electricity in the first year of operation.  
 
Xcel will provide, and the Public Utility Commission (“PUC”) shall approve, a Bill Credit Rate (“BCR”) 
applicable to each CSG. The Initial Estimated BCR is nine hundred seventy-six ten-thousandths 
($0.0976) cents per kWh of solar production. 
 
Customer agrees to pay the Subscription Rate, which is defined as the difference between the BCR and 
Discount Rate. The Discount Rate shall be equal to one cent ($0.01) per kWh off of the applicable Bill 
Credit Rate. The Initial Estimated Subscription Rate is eight hundred seventy-six ten-thousandths 
($0.0876) cents per kWh. 
 
Customer will be invoiced monthly for the production posted to utility account(s) since the previous 
invoice date.  Customer agrees to pay monthly invoices via an ‘automatic funds transfer’. The first 
invoice will be issued two months after the garden’s Commercial Operation Date. The Subscription 
Payment will be calculated by multiplying the total CSG production by the Percentage Allocation and 
the Subscription Rate.  
 
The parties acknowledge the attached VOS Commercial Terms and Conditions and agree to their 
incorporation into the terms of this Agreement. 
 
The Parties agree to receive notice at the Customer and Provider points of contact noted below: 

 
Customer 

 
City of Mayer 
Attn: Margaret McCallum 
413 Bluejay Ave 
Mayer, MN 55360-0102 
margaret.mccallum@cityofmayer.com 
952-657-1502 
 

 
Service Address 

 
See Exhibit A 
 

 
Provider 

 
Novel Energy Solutions 
1633 South Robert Street, Suite A 
West St. Paul, MN 55118 
info@NovelEnergy.biz 
612-345-7188 

27



 
SIGNATURE PAGE 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement as of the date noted herein. 
 
 
 

City of Mayer  Novel Energy Solutions L.L.C. 

   

 

 

  

Signature  Signature 

 

 

  

Printed Name  Printed Name 

 

Mayor 

  

Title  Title 

 
   

 

 

  

Signature   

 

 

  

Printed Name   

 

City Administrator 

  

Title   

 
 

28



 
1. Services:  Subject to the terms hereof, Novel Energy Solutions 

L.L.C. (“NES”), agrees to provide the Customer with Xcel Value 
of Solar (“VOS”) solar subscription services (hereafter, 
“Services”) as specified in the VOS Commercial Subscription 
Agreement provided to the Customer to which these terms and 
conditions are attached (collectively, the “Agreement”). 

 
2. Term: The term of this Agreement shall commence on the date 

upon which the applicable community solar garden is 
authorized by Xcel to generate and deliver electrical energy to 
the transmission system, the Commercial Operation Date 
(“COD”); and shall terminate on the date which is twenty-five 
(25) years thereafter.   

 
3. Effective Date: The Effective Date of each Agreement shall be 

either the COD or the date of execution of the Agreement, 
whichever date occurs later. 

 
4. Termination: Customer may terminate this Agreement upon 

the occurrence of any of the following: 
4.1. Early Termination Option after 96 Months:  If anytime 

after eight (8) years the customer wishes to terminate the 
agreement they may do so without penalty by giving 
Provider twenty-four (24) months notice. Upon giving 
notice, Customer may leave at the earlier of (a) Provider 
finding a replacement subscriber or (b) twenty-four (24) 
months after giving notice. For clarity, this option is only 
available starting day one (1) of the ninth (9th) year 
following the Effective Date, and without a replacement 
subscriber the earliest Customer may leave without 
penalty is the end of the tenth (10th) year.  

4.2. Ceasing to be an Eligible Xcel Customer: If at any time the 
Customer moves or relocates outside the utility service 
area that is eligible to subscribe to the CSG and is no longer 
eligible to subscribe to the CSG, the customer may leave 
with a termination fee of two thousand and five hundred 
dollars ($2,500).  

 
4.3. No Fee Termination: Customer may terminate this 

Agreement without a fee only under the following 
circumstances: 
4.3.1.In the event the COD is not achieved within twenty 

four (24) months after the date of execution of this 
Agreement, either Party may terminate this 
Agreement, without liability, by providing the other 
Party with a written notice of termination. 

4.3.2.In the event Provider breaches, fails to perform, or 
fails to comply with any representation, warranty, 
obligation, covenant or agreement described in this 
Agreement and such failure continues for a period of 
forty five (45) days after written notice thereof.  
 

5. Subscription Amount: The Subscription Amount is defined as 
the kilowatts (kW) the Customer subscribes to in each 
community solar garden (CSG). This is calculated by multiplying 

the Percentage Allocation by the total CSG production capacity 
as determined by the Xcel and independent testing. 
 

6. Percentage Allocation: This term is defined as the maximum 
amount of the CSG solar electric production Provider will 
reserve for customer’s Subscription Amount.  

 
7. Discount Rate: The Discount Rate off of the Bill Credit Rate is 

$0.01 / kWh (one cent per kilowatt hour). 
 
8. Bill Credit Rate: The Bill Credit Rate (BCR) will change annually 

throughout the Term of this Agreement. A new BCR shall be 
proposed by Xcel to the PUC on or about the first quarter of 
each calendar year. Once a BCR is set for a CSG, that BCR will 
not change aside from the predetermined annual increase. Any 
changes to the BCR do not impact the Discount Rate.  
8.1. The BCR is credited to the Customer’s utility bill based 

upon the production of the CSG(s) to which the Customer 
is subscribed. The Bill Credit amount shall be calculated by 
Xcel by multiplying the BCR by the kilowatt hours (kWhs) 
produced by the CSG each billing period and by the CSG 
Percentage Allocation of corresponding Customer. 

 
9. Bill Credit Exceptions: If the amount of Bill Credits exceeds the 

amount owed on Customer’s Xcel electric utility bill in any 
billing period, the excess shall be governed by the Customer’s 
utility contract with Xcel, or applicable law. 

 
10. Subscription Rate: The Subscription Rate shall be determined 

by subtracting the applicable Discount Rate from the applicable 
BCR at that time.  

 
11. Subscription Payment: Beginning with the second calendar 

month following the Commercial Operation Date, NES shall 
invoice Customer for the Monthly Subscription Payment for the 
bill credits posted to Customer’s account since the prior invoice 
date. Customer shall make all payments through an “automatic 
transfer of funds” prior to the invoice due date. 

 
12. Monthly Subscription Payment: The Monthly Subscription 

payment is calculated by multiplying the total CSG production 
accrued since the prior invoice date by the Percentage 
Allocation and Subscription Rate.  
 

13. Outstanding Balances/Interest: Any amounts not paid prior to 
the invoice due date will accrue interest at a rate of eight 
percent (8%) per annum (and if less than eight percent (8%) per 
annum, the maximum rate permitted by law) from the invoice 
due date until NES receives payment.  

 
14. Outages: NES shall not invoice Customer during CSG outages 

lasting longer than twenty (20) consecutive days.  NES shall 
provide written notice to Customer when it becomes aware 
that the corresponding CSG is out of service for longer than two 
(2) consecutive days, which notice shall include an estimate of 
how long the outage will last and the estimated loss of 

29



electricity production. Any outage will be reflected in the 
Annual Reconciliation. 

 
15. Annual Reconciliation: Customer’s Subscription Payments are 

subject to an annual reconciliation at least twelve (12) full 
months following the Effective Date which is submitted by NES 
to Customer no later than ninety (90) days after the end of each 
calendar year (each, an “Annual Reconciliation”). The annual 
Subscription Payment due for the prior calendar year (or 
portion thereof) shall equal the product of: (i) the Percentage 
Allocation, (ii) the actual number of kWhs the corresponding 
CSG generated throughout such calendar year (or portion 
thereof), and (iii) the Subscription Rate. The payment will occur 
within 30 days of the date Xcel issues payment for the surplus 
credits remaining in Customer’s account. For clarity, if the CSG 
produces more than estimated Customer will owe Provider a 
payment, and if the CSG produces less than estimated the 
Provider will owe Customer a payment.     

 
16. Subscriber Eligibility Requirements: As a condition precedent 

to entering into this Agreement, Customer must meet all 
applicable Subscriber Eligibility Criteria as provided in MN § 
216B.1641 and VOS program regulations.  Should Customer no 
longer qualify under the Subscriber Eligibility Criteria, this 
Agreement may be subject to termination by NES, Xcel, or a 
governmental authority having jurisdiction over the Xcel 
Solar*Rewards Community Program. 

 
17. Annual Reports: In the first March which is at least twelve (12) 

full months following the Effective Date, and each March 
thereafter until the expiration or earlier termination of this 
Agreement, NES shall provide Customer an annual report 
describing the annual energy production of the Project for the 
prior calendar year. 

 
18. Environmental Attributes, Tax Credits, etc. Customer’s 

purchase of the Subscription Amount will not include benefits 
or derivatives of Renewable Energy Credits (“RECs”) or green 
tags, carbon offset credits, rebates, unsubscribed electrical 
energy, tax credits, tax or environmental attributes associated 
with owning or operating the Project, or any other attributes of 
owning the Project (collectively “Environmental Attributes”). 
Customer acknowledges and agrees that all RECs and 
Environmental Attributes shall be retained by NES and that NES 
will be required to transfer ownership of all RECs to Xcel 
pursuant to the CSG Contract. All unsubscribed electrical 
energy generated by the Project shall be treated as unallocated 
and Xcel will purchase all unallocated energy from NES at the 
applicable Tariff rate. In addition, Customer agrees to 
reasonably cooperate with NES so that NES may claim any 
Environmental Attributes from the Project. 

 
19. Transfer and/or Assignments: No Party may assign or transfer 

this Agreement except as follows: 
19.1. Customer Assignment or Transfer: Customer 

may only assign or transfer this Agreement with NES’s 
prior written approval, which approval is in NES’s sole and 
absolute discretion, and upon Customer’s payment to NES 

of a two hundred fifty dollar ($250.00) “Assignment or 
Transfer Fee,” and Customer’s payment to NES of all 
amounts due and owing to NES after reconciliation of the 
Monthly Subscription Payments for the period prior to the 
effective date of the assignment or transfer. Upon the 
execution of Customer’s transfer request, neither NES nor 
Xcel shall have any liability to Customer or be required to 
refund Customer any money under this Agreement. In the 
event the Customer transfers a portion of its subscription, 
the transfer fee shall be prorated. Customer shall not 
profit from, or receive any payment as a result of, any 
assignment or transfer of this Agreement. 

 
19.2. Customer New Service Address within Xcel: The Parties 

agree this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect 
and automatically transfer without any fee to Customer’s 
new Service Address in the event Customer’s Service 
Address changes, provided Customer remains an Xcel 
customer eligible to participate in the corresponding CSG 
under Minn. Stat.§ 216B.1641 and Customer continues to 
satisfy the Subscriber Eligibility Criteria. 

 
19.3. NES’ Assignment, Transfer, or Reallocation: NES 

may assign or transfer this Agreement to any affiliate, 
financial institution, or entity without providing Customer 
prior notice and without obtaining Customer's prior 
consent, and upon any such assignment or transfer, NES 
shall be released from all future obligations under this 
Agreement.  NES may transfer or allocate this Agreement 
and/or Subscription Amount to multiple CSG’s and upon 
such transfer or reallocation will provide Customer 
updated disclosure information pursuant to Subscriber 
Agreement. 

 
20. Default & Remedies: 
 

20.1. Events of Default:  
20.1.1.Events of Default.  The following shall constitute an 

“Event of Default”: 
20.1.1.1.A Party fails to make any payment due under 

this Agreement and such failure continues for a 
period of forty-five (45) days; 

20.1.1.2.A Party breaches, fails to perform, or fails to 
comply with any representation, warranty, 
obligation, covenant or agreement described in 
this Agreement and such failure continues for a 
period of forty-five (45) days after written notice 
thereof by the other Party; 

20.1.1.3.A Party has provided false or misleading 
financial or other information to enter into this 
Agreement; 

20.1.1.4.Customer assigns, transfers, encumbers, or 
sells this Agreement or any part of its 
Subscription Amount or Bill Credits in violation of 
Transfers and/or Assigns section; or 

20.1.1.5.Customer makes an assignment for the 
benefit of creditors, admits in writing its 
insolvency, or is subject to a petition for 

30



dissolution or reorganization, voluntary or 
involuntary, under the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. 

 
20.2. Remedies: Upon the occurrence of an Event of 

Default, NES may take any rights and/or remedies available 
to it at law or in equity. All rights, powers, and remedies 
provided under this Agreement are cumulative and not 
exclusive of any rights, powers, or remedies provided by 
applicable law. NES may terminate the agreement and 
replace the defaulting Customer, which will not waive 
payments owed or default fees. 

 
20.3. Attorney’s Fees: If any legal action or other 

proceeding is brought for the enforcement of this 
Agreement, or because of an alleged dispute, breach, 
default, or misrepresentation in connection with any of the 
provisions of this Agreement, the prevailing party or 
parties shall be entitled to recover reasonable attorney’s 
fees and all other costs incurred in that action or 
proceeding, in addition to any other relief to which it may 
be entitled. 

 
21. Limitation of Liability, Arbitration, Indemnification 
 

21.1. Limitation of Liability: Except as provided in the 
Early Termination and Transfer and/or Assigns sections 
with respect to Customer’s liability upon termination or 
transfer of the Agreement, no Party shall be liable to the 
other Party for any indirect, special, punitive, exemplary, 
incidental, or consequential damages, whether arising in 
contract, tort, under statute, or in equity, and each Party 
hereby waives its rights to any such damages. To the 
maximum extent permitted by law, NES’ liability arising 
under or in connection with this agreement cannot exceed 
the annual reconciliation amount. 

 
21.2. NO WARRANTY: EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY 

PROVIDED IN THIS AGREEMENT, NES MAKES NO 
WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION, EITHER EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, REGARDING THE PROJECT OR ITS OBLIGATIONS 
HEREUNDER. NES DISCLAIMS ALL WARRANTIES OF 
MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE 
OR PURPOSE.  WITHOUT LIMITING THE GENERALITY OF 
THE FOREGOING, NES DOES NOT WARRANT OR 
GUARANTEE THE AMOUNT OF ELECTRICITY PRODUCED 
BY CSG OR CUSTOMER’S PERCENTAGE ALLOCATION.  

 
21.3. Arbitration: Any dispute, disagreement, or claim 

between Customer and NES arising out of or in connection 
with this Agreement shall be submitted to final and binding 
arbitration, in accordance with the Consumer Arbitration 
Rules of the American Arbitration Association. This 
Agreement to arbitrate is governed by the Federal 
Arbitration Act. This arbitration clause replaces the right to 
participate in a class action or similar proceeding. 

 
21.4. Indemnification: To the maximum extent 

permitted by law, each Party agrees to indemnify, protect, 
defend, and hold harmless the other Party and its 

successors and assigns, and their employees, officers, 
directors, and agents, from any and all damages, losses, 
claims, costs , or expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ 
fees) or any liability resulting from any action or suit by any 
third party, of any kind resulting from the failure of such 
Party to comply with any of the terms or conditions of this 
Agreement applicable to such Party. 

 
22. Miscellaneous: 
 

22.1. Force Majeure: Except as specifically provided in 
this Agreement, if by reason of Force Majeure, NES is 
unable to carry out, either in whole or in part, any of its 
obligations described in this Agreement, NES shall not be 
deemed to be in default during the continuation of such 
inability, provided that, within a reasonable time after the 
occurrence of the Force Majeure event, NES gives 
Customer notice describing the particulars of the 
occurrence and the anticipated period of delay, and uses 
reasonable efforts to remedy the cause(s) preventing it 
from carrying out its obligations. “Force Majeure” as used 
in this Agreement means any event or circumstances 
beyond the reasonable control of NES not resulting from 
NES’s negligence. 

 
22.2. Waiver: Any delay or failure of a Party to enforce 

any of the provisions of this Agreement, or to require 
performance by the other Party of any of the provisions of 
this Agreement, shall not be construed to  
22.2.1. be a waiver of such provisions or a Party’s right to 

enforce that provision; or  
22.2.2. affect the validity of this Agreement. 

 
22.3. Severability: If any portion of this Agreement is 

determined to be invalid or unenforceable in any respect 
under applicable law, the remainder of this Agreement 
shall not be affected thereby, and each term, covenant, or 
condition of the Agreement will be valid and enforceable 
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, unless 
such invalidity or unenforceability frustrates or negates an 
essential purpose of this Agreement. 

 
22.4. Notices:  

22.4.1.All notices, requests, demands and other 
communications under this Agreement shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed delivered:  
22.4.1.1. upon receipt, when delivered personally;  
22.4.1.2. upon receipt, when sent by email (provided 

confirmation of transmission is mechanically or 
electronically generated and kept on file by the 
sending party); or  

22.4.1.3. on the second day after mailing if mailed to 
the parties to whom notice is to be given, by first 
class mail, postage prepaid, and properly 
addressed to the Provider address noted within 
the Subscriber Agreement page.  

22.4.2.Any Party may change the address for purposes of 
this Section by giving the other written notice of the 
new address in the manner set forth above. 

31



 
22.5. Entire Agreement: This Agreement and all 

documents referenced herein contain the entire 
agreement between Parties with respect to the subject 
matter hereof and supersede all other understandings or 
agreements between the Parties relating to the subject 
matter hereof. 

 
22.6. Amendments: This Agreement may not be 

amended except under the following circumstances: 
22.6.1.Prior to COD, NES may amend this Agreement 

without the prior written consent of Customer, 
provided, that any such amendment shall not alter 
the subscriber discount rate, contract length, 
termination provisions, billing mechanics, customer 
transfer options, eliminate arbitration as a dispute 
mechanism, or any key default provision. 

 
22.7. Binding Effect: This Agreement is binding upon 

the Parties and their successors and permitted assigns. 
 

22.8. Survival: The provisions of Limitation of Liability, 
Arbitration, Indemnification section of this Agreement 
shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this 
Agreement. 

 
22.9. Governing Law: The Agreement is made in the 

state of Minnesota and will be governed by Minnesota law, 
without regard to principles of conflicts of law, together 
with any applicable federal law. 

 

22.10. Data Privacy:  NES acknowledges that it and its 
employees, owners, officers, directors, agents or 
representatives, in the course performance under this 
Agreement, may receive, acquire, have access to, or be 
exposed to “Government Data,” as that term is used in the 
Minnesota Government Data Practices Act, Minnesota 
Statutes Chapter 13 (“MGDPA”).  NES hereby agrees that it 
must meet the requirements of the MGDPA as a 
contracting party under Minn. Stat. § 13.05, subdivision 6.  
NES agrees that it will collect, distribute, publish, maintain, 
and store any Government Data only in accordance with 
the provisions of the MGDPA.  NES’ obligation under this 
paragraph survives the termination of this Agreement. 

 
22.11. Counterparts: This Agreement may be executed 

and delivered in identical counterparts by exchange of 
electronic copies showing the signatures of the Parties, 
which shall constitute originally signed copies of the same 
Agreement requiring no further execution. Each 
counterpart, when assembled, will be a complete original 
and fully effective instrument. Any acceptance of this 
Agreement by affirmation through a DocuSign Electronic 
Signature, or similar system, shall be deemed a binding 
acceptance of this Agreement and shall be valid as a 
signature. 

 
22.12. Headings: The section headings contained in this 

Agreement are for reference purposes only and shall not 
affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement.
  

 
  

32



Exhibit A 
 

City of Mayer Service Address List 
 
 

Account Premise Address City State Zip 
51-4184407-3 302210683 15300 County Road 30 Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 302383483 400 Ash Ave N Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 303044321 413 Bluejay Ave Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 303630327 2073 Old Schoolhouse Rd Mayer MN 5536 

51-4184407-3 303676447 669 Shimmcor St Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 303757106 323 Shimmcor St Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 304034263 250 Bluejay Ave Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 304058791 5301 Red Barn Rd Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 304083696 413 Bluejay Ave Mayer MN 55360 

51-4184407-3 304111437 202 Ash Ave N  Mayer MN 55360 
 
 

33



City of Mayer Summary (4/12/19) 

Novel Energy Solutions (NES) Value of Solar (VOS) Program 

 In 2013, Minnesota legislation directed Minneapolis-based utility, Xcel 
Energy, to create a program for community solar gardens (“CSGs”). The 
program is regulated by the MN Public Utility Commission 

• The current program is referred to as the Value of Solar (VOS) 
Program 

• Under the program Xcel Energy remains the customer’s electricity 
provider  

• Bill credits are issued on your Xcel Invoice based on your subscription 
amount 

• NO Cost to the Subscriber  
 The Xcel VOS Bill Credit rate for 2018 projects is 9.76/kWh cents and will 

escalate each year for 25 years at a fixed rate of 2.27%.  
 Customer's Subscription rate will always be a half cent or 1 cent below the 

VOS Bill credit rate thus guaranteeing a half cent or 1 cent/kWh savings 
 Offering Options 

• One cent/kWh discount: 8-year contract, 2-year replacement period, 
NES finds replacement, extends to 25 years 

• Half cent/kWh discount: 5-year contract, 2-year replacement period, 
NES finds replacement, extends to 25 years 

 Locally owned Minnesota made company with offices in St. Paul, MN 
 One of the largest CSG developers in the country with over 100 MW of 

CSGs developed 
 Can be an important marketing tool, now and particularly in the future as 

more pressure is put on organizations for environmental leadership 
 Subscribing to 597,779 kWhs at 1 cent/kWh will produce an estimated 

annual savings of about $5,700/year 

 

Winona, MN (350kWs) 

34



More cities across Minnesota are 
turning to renewable sources of 
energy 
Solar, wind and hydro fill increasing roles in municipal power grids  
By Matt McKinney Star Tribune staff  
JUNE 23, 2018 — 7:39PM  

 

 
Aaron Lavinsky, Star TribuneA 220-kilowatt solar array powers the St. Cloud Wastewater Treatment Plant, 
along with a biodigester that turns sewage into energy. 
Text size  

ST. CLOUD – The sewage plant in this city does something even a non-engineer might find 

remarkable: It makes so much of its own energy that on some days, when the sun shines bright, the 

plant’s managers don’t need to buy electricity. 

Instead, they sell it. 

That’s despite the fact that such plants are notorious energy hogs, burning up the equivalent of a 

small neighborhood’s monthly electrical use every single day to move and clean city water. 

In St. Cloud, though, a pair of powerful solar arrays and a state-of-the-art biodigester that turns 

sewage into electricity, heat and fertilizer sometimes generate more power than the plant can use. 

35

http://www.startribune.com/matt-mckinney/10645411/
http://stmedia.startribune.com/images/ows_152979368756846.jpg
http://stmedia.startribune.com/images/ows_152979368756846.jpg
http://stmedia.startribune.com/images/ows_152979368756846.jpg


That happened for the first time on April 12 of last year. Since then, it’s happened on 30 additional 

days, most recently on June 5. 

Those “net zero” days in St. Cloud are among a wave of positive anecdotes from municipalities across 

the state about early efforts to adopt renewable energy. Driven by favorable economics and, to a 

lesser extent, constituent proddings, many cities have turned to solar and other renewables so 

quickly that even the people pushing for the change say they’re surprised. 

“It comes down to how can you say ‘no’ to saving money and doing something for the environment,” 

said Abby Finis, senior energy planner with the Great Plains Institute of Minneapolis. 

That momentum was driven by the state’s 2007 renewable energy standard and solar energy laws 

passed in 2013 that require public utilities to generate 1.5 percent of electricity from solar by 2021, 

said Matt Privratsky of Fresh Energy, a Minnesota nonprofit that advocates for renewables. 

Solar has grown so quickly in Minnesota, in fact, that between 2016 and 2017 the amount of solar 

power produced didn’t just double or triple, but grew by a factor of 72, according to the Minnesota 

Department of Commerce. That was enough to raise solar power from .03 percent of all electricity 

generated in the state in 2016 to 1.2 percent a year later. 

The surge has prompted several Minnesota city governments, including Minneapolis, to set bold 

goals to go 100 percent renewable by a set date. 

Of the municipalities racing to get there, St. Cloud may be the leader. Its subscriptions to solar 

gardens and use of geothermal and conservation measures have it claiming an 83 percent renewable 

rate for the city government. (This does not include private homes or businesses.) 

“Our goal was to be aggressive because we knew what the potential was, particularly in the area of 

solar,” said St. Cloud Mayor Dave Kleis. 

As recently as 2014, the city government used just 5 percent renewables for its electrical demand, but 

that was also the year that the St. Cloud utilities department laid plans to dramatically improve the 

sewage plant’s efficiency. Those plans soon spread across other city departments, and with Xcel 

Energy’s help, St. Cloud began a comprehensive review of energy use. 

The city has since subscribed to 32 solar gardens — at least 20 commissioned last year alone — for a 

total of 23 million kilowatt-hours of solar energy, or enough to meet about three-quarters of demand. 

36

http://www.betterenergy.org/
http://www.startribune.com/minnesota-solar-market-surges/485273251/
http://news.minneapolismn.gov/2018/04/27/minneapolis-sets-goals-100-percent-renewable-electricity/


Solar panels were also installed on the roof of the police headquarters, a fire station, a senior center 

and three other city buildings. A conversion to LED helped cut in half electrical use for streetlights 

between 2015 and 2017. Efficiencies at the sewage plant lowered its power demands as the new 

biodigester and solar panels came online. The public transportation system, meanwhile, converted 

nearly two-thirds of its bus fleet to compressed natural gas. That lowers carbon emissions and has 

saved St. Cloud Metro Bus about $450,000 in fuel costs over the past three years. 

The savings from the solar garden subscriptions alone amount to $28 million over 25 years, according 

to a city analysis. The sewage plant spends about $400,000 a year less for electricity, money that for 

14 years will go to pay a bond issued for the solar panels and biodigester. After that, the city can keep 

the savings. 

And none of these calculations include the city’s long-running hydroelectric plant, which generates 

nearly twice as much electricity as the city needs every day. All of that power goes to Xcel Energy for 

use on the grid, so the city hasn’t considered it in their renewables calculations. 

Renewables elsewhere 

Few cities in Minnesota can match St. Cloud, but Minneapolis might come closest, where measures 

already underway will push the city government’s use of renewables to about 65 percent by the end 

of this year. 

St. Paul stands at about 25 percent renewable and has subscribed to solar gardens that, once built 

and put online, will raise the city’s number closer to 50 percent. Among other large cities: Mankato 

will hit 52 percent by next year, Rochester is at about 17 percent and Duluth about 14. 

“It’s not just the right thing to do, it actually makes a lot of sense financially to do it,” said Alison 

Zelms, Mankato’s deputy city manager. Her city will save $273,000 a year starting in 2019 thanks to 

subscriptions to solar gardens, a pair of city-owned solar arrays and a suite of conservation measures 

that include installing LED lights. 

Smaller cities have switched to renewables, too. In Red Wing, the city government approved solar 

garden subscriptions in 2016 that would cover 100 percent of municipal demand. So far, about 40 

percent of the gardens have been built, enough for the city to save about $33,000 on its power bill 

last year. Once all the gardens are online, the city expects to save $6.6 million over 25 years. 

Meanwhile, a five-megawatt solar garden that went online in February 2017 helps power the Red 

Wing School District, which expects to save $7.7 million over 25 years. 

37



In Inver Grove Heights, City Administrator Joe Lynch said his city both subscribed to solar gardens and 

installed rooftop solar on city buildings, eventually finding that the latter didn’t deliver the predicted 

savings while the solar gardens did. He said conversations are now underway about how to raise their 

renewable electricity rate of about 48 percent, perhaps by saying ‘yes’ to one of the solar vendors 

who call him pitching more solar gardens. 

“We’re being petitioned regularly,” said Lynch. 

In Woodbury, the city’s subscriptions to solar gardens are expected to deliver about $67,000 a year in 

savings, or about $1.69 million over the life of a 25-year contract. The city recently signed up for more 

solar gardens and expects to have about 70 percent of its electrical demand matched by its 

subscriptions. 

“Everybody has been really happy with the way that this is going,” said Jen McLoughlin, the city’s 

sustainability specialist. “We are seeing the savings.” 

The city installed its own solar panels on the public safety building, but analysis continues on whether 

that’s a better move than joining more solar gardens, said McLoughlin. 

Activism vs. economics 

For cities making the plunge into renewables, the economics have often been at the center of the 

argument. Plummeting costs for wind and solar energy make it about the cheapest way to keep the 

lights on at City Hall. Some of the solar farms and wind stations also generate lease payments and 

property taxes that, in places like Jackson County, in the wind-rich region of southwest Minnesota, 

contribute a substantial amount to local government’s bottom line. 

But on top of the talk of dollars and cents are creative campaigns by environmentalists who want to 

push their cities to move faster. 

One of the most successful projects has been led by kids like Olya Wright, 12. Last year, Wright, along 

with other members of a nature group she started, delivered bad news to her City Council in Grand 

Marais. Using a questionnaire and directions she took from the youth environmental group iMatter, 

based in St. Louis Park, Wright told the City Council that she had assessed its environmental efforts 

and determined that they were nearly failing. 

“They got a grade,” Wright said recently from her home in Grand Marais. “It was a D-plus.” 

38



The council passed a climate resolution that night, vowing to shrink the city’s carbon footprint. 

  

mckinney@startribune.com 612-217-1747 

39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



Memorandum 
 
Item: Cleaning Contract –  
 
Meeting Date:  May 13, 2019  
Presented By: Margaret McCallum, City Administrator  
 
Timeline Details: 
Last year, in 2018, the City was notified by its long-time cleaning contractor that they would be done 
with services on May 31, 2018.  
 
At the June 25, 2018 the City Council asked that a contract between the City of Mayer and the lowest 
bidder be brought to them for review and approval. The City signed an agreement with Minnesota 
Services in July 2018.  
 
In February 2019, the City moved to dissolve the working agreement with Minnesota Services. 
Minnesota Services end date was March 31, 2019.  
 
Staff solicited proposals through social media, the newspaper and newsletter from cleaning contractors 
using our current level of service schedule. All common areas, hallways, restrooms would be cleaned 1 
day per week.  The contractor would also clean after scheduled community center events.  
 
All contractors would provide their own cleaning supplies and equipment, with the option to use the 
City’s floor scrubber. The City would continue to supply consumables such as toilet paper, hand towels, 
etc.  
 
Staff received three proposals/bids from companies who are located and work in the west metro.  
 
Staff performed reference checks on all three and all came back satisfactory.  
 
Staff also asked each company for proof of liability insurance.  
 
Staff reviewed the proposals for the cost of services.  
 
 
 

73



 Squeaky Clean – 
Linda 

Squared Services Mary Giese MN SERVICES 
(previous 
contract) 

Cost $435.00/Month $182 for first to 
cleanings 
$92.00/week after 

$150.00/Week 
$250.00/Deep 
Clean 

$415.00/Month 

Event Cost $50/Event $135/Event Info. Not Provided $50/Event 
     
Yearly Estimated 
General Cost  

$5,220.00 $4,964.00 $7,800.00 $4,980.00 

Yearly Estimated 
Event Cost 
(Based on 20 
large events) 

$1,000.00  $2,700.00  $1,000.00 

Total Yearly 
Estimated Cost 

$6,220.00 $7,660.00 Above $7,800 $5,980.00 

 
The General Maintenance Budget for Cleaning Services is $6,000 for the 2019 year.  
 
Event Cleaning Costs are paid for through contract fees for renting out the facility and are covered 
through the event fees.  
 
Taken together, staff is recommending the Council approve staff to move forward with drafting a 
contract with Squeaky Clean Cleaning Services because the overall yearly costs would be the lowest 
based on general cleaning and estimated cleaning event costs.  
 
Additional Information: 
None.  

74



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 1 

 
 

Mayer City Council 
Staff Report 

      May 9, 2019 
Accessory Storage Building Site Plan Review  

 
APPLICATION DATA 
 
Meeting Date:    May 13, 2019 
 
Applicant/Owner: Peter Johnson 
 
Address &  
PID Number: 505 Shimmcor Street  - 50.70000.90 
 
Legal Description: Lot 5, Block 2, Sell Commercial Industrial Park, Carver County, Minnesota. 
 
ACTION REQUESTED 
 
To approve or deny a site plan review for an accessory storage building to be located at 505 Shimmcor 
Street. 
 
BACKGROUND DATA  
   
Future Land Use  
Classification: Both properties are designated Existing MUSA Infill/Redevelopment on the future land 

use map. The proposed designation in the 2040 Comprehensive Plan update is 
Industrial and the proposed accessory storage building is consistent with both 
designations.   

 
Zoning  
Classification: The site is located in the Sell Commercial Industrial Park and is zoned (C/I) 

Commercial/Industrial District. The following list shows the required and proposed 
minimum requirements for structures within the C/I district.  

 
C/I Commercial/Industrial Requirement Proposed 
Front yard setback:    30 feet  Over 180 feet 
Rear yard setback:    30 feet  30 feet 
Side yard setback:  20 feet  Over 20 feet both side yards 
Lot coverage:   85%  74.9% at full buildout 
Building Height:  40 feet  25 feet 

 
 The proposed use is storage, which is a permitted use in the C/I district. 
 
Comments  
Received:   No comments from the public have been received as of the date of the this memo. 
 
Background:   Plans have been submitted to construct an accessory building on property located in 

the Shimmcor industrial park. A site plan was previously approved for this property 
around 2005 which consisted of multiple buildings and paved access to the buildings. 
Two access points were proposed from Shimmcor Street, one near the north property 
line and one near the south property line. The southern access has been paved and 
pavement extends around the existing buildings on the south part of the property, while 
the northern access has curb in but is not paved at this time. 

 

75



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 2 

 The property currently consists of three existing storage buildings. One larger building 
in the center of the lot and two smaller buildings located just north of the south property 
line. The two smaller buildings are approximately 60 feet long by 40 feet wide and thirty 
feet north of the south property line. The larger building is approximately 100 feet wide 
by 120 feet deep. The original site plan proposed a total of four buildings with the larger 
building designed to allow for expansion to the north and another storage building to be 
located on the east side of the lot.  

 
 The proposed building is a different size than what was originally proposed and 

because of this the site plan review is required. The applicant is also proposing to 
extend the paving to the north building line of the proposed building as was shown on 
the original site plan.  
 
Site plan reviews are required for any new structures except single family residential so 
the proposed storage building will be required to go through the site plan review 
process. The zoning ordinance also states that site plan modifications, which is what is 
being proposed, shall be applied for and administered as required for new site plan. It 
should also be noted that the proposed building is different than the site plan that was 
approved in 2005. The site plan review requirements are listed under Section 152.031 
of the zoning ordinance. Site plan review requires the following submittal requirements. 

 
 (1)  Boundary survey of parcel including identification of all monuments. 
 (2)  Scaled location of all buildings, structures, driveways, sidewalks, trails, parking 

 stalls, and curbing. 
 (3)  Scaled identification of all setback dimensions from property lines. 
 (4)  Scaled locations of all existing and proposed utilities and easements. 
 (5)  Scaled depictions of floor plans for each story. 
 (6)  Scaled depictions of each building elevation and descriptions of exterior building 

 materials and color schemes. 
 (7)  Scaled site grading plans, including erosion and sedimentation control 

 mechanisms and procedures. 
 (8)  Scaled delineations of any shoreland, floodplain, or wetland areas on the site. 
 (9)  Identification of any floodplain or wetland encroachments and detailed mitigation 

 plans. 
 (10) Detailed landscape plans, illustrating size, types, and locations of all materials, a 

 description of site seeding or sodding, a description of the timetable for site 
 landscaping, and the identification of any irrigation systems. 

 (11)  Detailed descriptions of any site fencing, including type, location and height. 
 (12)  All plans shall be dated and shall bear the name(s) of the preparer(s), including 

 professional registrations or certifications when appropriate or required. 
 
Site plans can also expire and unless the City Council specifically approves a different 
time when action is officially taken on the request, site plans which have been 
approved shall expire without further action by the Planning Commission or the City 
Council within one year of the date the site plan is approved, unless the applicant has 
substantially started the construction of any building, structure, addition or alteration, or 
use requested as part of the approved site plan. The applicant shall have the right to 
submit an application for time extension before the expiration of the one year period 
and the applicant shall apply for an extension thereof by completing and submitting a 
request for extension, including the renewal fee as established by City Council 
resolution. The request for extension shall state facts showing a good faith attempt to 
complete any building, structure, addition or alteration, or use approved in the site plan. 
Said extension shall be presented to the Planning Commission for a recommendation 
and to the City Council for a decision. 
 
At the May 7, 2019 Planning Commission meeting, the Planning Commission to 
recommend approval of the site plan review. As part of the approval they also voted to 

76



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 3 

waive the 30% requirement of having a different material than the rest of the front per 
the zoning ordinance requirements.  
 

Building  
Materials: The applicant will be required to satisfy the building design standards under section 

152.101 of the zoning ordinance. The following language applies. 
 

The purpose of establishing building design standards is to encourage development of 
aesthetically pleasing structures, to create minimum standards for non-residential 
design, and to protect the investments of non-residential building owners. 

 (B) Buildings located in the C/I District must include design treatments to all-metal-
exterior structures. Such treatments include but are not limited to steep-pitch 
roofs, awnings, wainscoting, color bands, shutters, extra windows, and 
combinations of other building materials. 

 
Under Section 152.060, the C/I district, the following language also applies to the 
building materials.  
 
Building Materials. Face materials, which rapidly deteriorate or become unsightly such 
as galvanized metal, unfinished structural clay shall not be used. 
Permitted Building Materials. Structural systems of all buildings shall be in compliance 
with the Uniform Building Code as adopted and in effect in the City of Mayer at the time 
of application for a building permit. The lower 30% of the exterior front of all buildings, 
as measured from ground elevation, facing the main access street shall consist of 
materials comparable in grade and quality to the following. 

(a)   Brick; 
(b)   Natural stone; 
(c)   Pre-cast concrete units and concrete block, provided that surfaces are molded, 

serrated or treated with a textured material in order to give the wall surface a 
three-dimensional character; 

(d)   Wood, provided surfaces are finished for exterior use and only woods of 
proven exterior durability such as cedar, redwood and cypress. 

Variance to 30% Requirement. The 30% requirement may be varied as determined 
appropriate to accommodate taller buildings or new buildings constructed next to or in 
the immediate vicinity of other buildings in order to provide a uniform and consistent 
effect for the area. 
Planning Commission Approval. If material other than those listed above or a variance 
for the 30% requirement is proposed, it shall be subject to review and approval by the 
Planning Commission. 

 
The proposed building does not satisfy the 30% requirement of materials such as brick, 
stone, etc. This will be a condition of approval to satisfy this requirement unless the 
Planning Commission gives a variance to the 30% requirement. In this case this may 
be applicable since the building is behind the main building located on the property and 
not entirely visible from Shimmcor Street. 

 
Off-Street  
Parking: The applicant is proposing a storage building which is considered other industry in the 

off-street parking section of the City zoning ordinance. Other industry requires three off-
street parking spaces per every 1,000 square feet. The proposed building is to be 40 
feet by 42 feet in size or 1,680 square feet, which would require five off-street parking 
spaces. The applicant is proposing to extend the pavement from the existing section to 
the north end of the building. This would allow for an addition five off-street parking 
spaces. 

 
Landscaping: Landscaping was installed with the original construction along Shimmcor Street, the 

south property line and the east property line. This landscaping is sufficient for the 

77



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 4 

proposed accessory storage building site plan review. Landscaping in the C/I district  
should include the following. 

 
 One over-story tree for every 30 feet of street frontage.  
 
The property in question has 400 feet of street frontage so fourteen trees would be 
required and more than fourteen trees are already located on the property so the 
landscaping requirements are satisfied. 

 
Outdoor  
Storage: All materials, supplies, merchandise or other similar matter not on display for direct 

sale, rental or lease to the ultimate consumer or user, except those items exempt under 
section 152.090 of the zoning ordinance, shall be stored within a completely enclosed 
building or within the confines of a 100% opaque wall or fence not less than six feet or 
more than eight feet in height. Such a screen wall or fence shall be designed and 
constructed as to be architecturally harmonious with the principal structure and located 
so as to not extend within twenty-five feet of any street. Landscaping (trees, shrubs, 
grass and other plantings) shall be on the right-of-way side of any screening or fencing. 
A screen planting may be substituted for a screen wall or fence at the discretion of the 
City Council, provided that any such screen planting shall fulfill the foregoing height and 
opacity requirements throughout each season of the year within 24 months after date of 
planting, and that no such screen planting shall be located across any existing 
easements. 

 
Surface Water  
Management: Stormwater management for the site is provided by a regional system constructed with 

the initial improvements for the Sell Commercial Industrial Park. The applicant is 
proposing to pave more surface on the lot but it is consistent with the original site plan 
as far as the impervious surface goes. The original site plan showed a total impervious 
surface are of 74.9% at full buildout, which is under the 85% requirement. The City 
Engineer will review and comment on any surface water management related 
questions. 

 
Signage: No signage is being proposed at this time.  
 
Miscellaneous 
Provisions: All general lighting employed on site must be directed away from adjoining properties. 

Direct or reflected glare from flood lights and spot lights, as differentiated from general 
illumination on the site, shall not be visible beyond the subject parcel. Noise and 
vibration generated from any use shall be in compliance with and regulated by the 
MPCA rules.  

 
CONDITIONS 
 
Site Plan Review 
The following conditions are recommended to be included if the City Council approves the site plan. 
These conditions may be subject to modification depending upon the outcome at the City Council 
meeting. 
 
1. Building Design Standards.  That the building design shall meet the requirements of section 152.060 

(C/I) Commercial/Industrial District (F) Special Requirements and 152.101 Building Design Standards 
of the zoning ordinance. The Planning Commission voted to waive the 30% front elevation building 
material requirement. 

 
2. Signage. That any proposed signage meet the standards set forth in Sections 152.120 through 

152.133 of the City Code and that all required sign permits are issued prior to installation of any 
signage.  

78



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 5 

 
3. Lighting.  All general lighting employed on site must be directed away from adjoining properties. 

Direct or reflected glare from flood lights and spot lights, as differentiated from general illumination on 
the site, shall not be visible beyond the subject parcel. 

 
4. Noise and Vibration. Noise and vibration generated from any use shall be in compliance with and 

regulated by the MPCA rules. 
 
5. Outdoor Storage. Any outdoor storage shall meet the requirements of section 152.090 Outdoor 

Storage and section 152.091 Screening the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
6. Stormwater Management. Stormwater shall be managed in accordance with the National Urban 

Runoff Program (NURP) standards for the design of new stormwater ponds. The provisions of the 
Minnesota Pollution Control Agency’s urban “best management practices,” titled “Protecting Water 
Quality in Urban Areas,” shall be used to review any proposed development in order to reduce non-
point source pollutant loadings in stormwater runoff. 

 
7. Building Permit.  All building permits that are required, shall be approved, paid for and issued prior to 

construction. 
 
8. Expiration. Unless the City Council specifically approves a different time when action is officially taken 

on the request, site plans which have been approved shall expire without further action by the 
Planning Commission or the City Council within one year of the date the site plan is approved, unless 
the applicant has substantially started the construction of any building, structure, addition or 
alteration, or use requested as part of the approved site plan. The applicant shall have the right to 
submit an application for time extension before the expiration of the one year period and the applicant 
shall apply for an extension thereof by completing and submitting a request for extension, including 
the renewal fee as established by City Council resolution. The request for extension shall state facts 
showing a good faith attempt to complete any building, structure, addition or alteration, or use 
approved in the site plan. Said extension shall be presented to the Planning Commission for a 
recommendation and to the City Council for a decision. 

 
9. City Engineer Review. The applicant shall satisfactorily address any issues raised by the City 

Engineer, if any. 
 

CITY COUNCIL ACTION REQUIRED 
 
After review and discussion by the members of the City Council, a motion is in order to approve, deny or 
to table the site plan review. 
 
Possible action items - Site Plan Review  
1. Approve the site plan review subject to conditions. 
2. Table the site plan review to a date specific, and provide the applicant with direction on the issues 

that have been discussed. 
3. Deny the site plan review. 
 
If you have any questions relating to the site plan review prior to the City Council meeting, please feel free 
to contact me at:  jandersonmdg@gmail.com or call direct at 952-855-4596. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

79



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 6 

Sincerely, 
 
MUNICIPAL DEVELOPMENT GROUP, LLC 
 

John Anderson 
 
John Anderson, Associate 
Consulting Planner, City of Mayer 

 
  
LIST OF ATTACHMENTS 
 
Exhibit A - 505 Shimmcor Street Aerial Location Map 
Exhibit B - Site Plan 

Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building

80



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 7 

Exhibit A - 505 Shimmcor Street Aerial Location Map 
 

 
 

81



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 8 

Exhibit B - Site Plan 
 

82



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 9 

Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 1 
 

83



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 10 

Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 2 
 

84



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 11 

Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 3  
 

85



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 12 

Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 4 
 

86



 
25562 Willow Lane ● New Prague, MN 56071 ● (952) 758-7399 ● Fax: (952) 758-3711 

Email: jandersonmdg@gmail.com ● www.municipaldevelopmentgroup.com 
Page 13 

Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 5 
 

 
  

87



CITY OF MAYER 
CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 05-13-19-19 

 
RESOLUTION APPROVING THE SITE PLAN A ACCESSORY STORAGE BUILDING AT 505 

SHIMMCOR STREET 
 
 

WHEREAS, the Peter Johnson (the "Applicant" and "Owner"), has submitted a request for site plan 
approval for a accessory storage building to be located in the Sell Commercial Industrial Park in 
conformance with Section 152.031 of the Zoning Ordinance relating to site plan review on property 
located at 505 Shimmcor Street, with a PID number of 50.70000.90 (the "Property"); and  
 
WHEREAS, the Property is zoned (C/I) Commercial/Industrial District; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Property is designated Existing MUSA Infill/Redevelopment on the future land use map 
and no building permit shall be issued until a site plan has been reviewed and approved by the City; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed use of a accessory storage building is a permitted use in the (C/I) 
Commercial/Industrial District; and 
 
WHEREAS, a copy of the proposed site plan materials and application were available at the City Offices 
for public viewing; and 
 
WHEREAS, section 152.031 of the Zoning Ordinance outlines Information Requirements and Procedure 
for site plan approval; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning Commission reviewed the site plans at the May 7, 2019 Planning Commission 
meeting at which time they recommended approval of the site and building plans, subject to conditions; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council reviewed the site plan on May 13, 2019; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City Council makes the following findings of fact in support of granting approval of the 
site plans: 
 
A. The legal description of the subject properties is:  Lot 5, Block 2, Sell Commercial Industrial Park, 

Carver County, Minnesota. 
 
B. The Planning Report dated May 9, 2019 shall be the governing document which includes the 

following Exhibits: 
 

Exhibit A - 505 Shimmcor Street Aerial Location Map 
Exhibit B - Site Plan 
Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building 

 
C. The aerial location map for 505 Shimmcor Street is attached as Exhibit A. 
 
D. The site plan is attached as Exhibit B. 
 
E. The renderings of the proposed building are attached as Exhibit C. 

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mayer, Minnesota, that it 
hereby approves the site plan for a accessory storage building, subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. Building Design Standards.  That the building design shall meet the requirements of section 152.060 

(C/I) Commercial/Industrial District (F) Special Requirements and 152.101 Building Design 

88



Standards of the zoning ordinance. The Planning Commission voted to waive the 30% front elevation 
building material requirement. 

 
2. Signage. That any proposed signage meet the standards set forth in Sections 152.120 through 

152.133 of the City Code and that all required sign permits are issued prior to installation of any 
signage.  

 
3. Lighting.  All general lighting employed on site must be directed away from adjoining properties. 

Direct or reflected glare from flood lights and spot lights, as differentiated from general illumination 
on the site, shall not be visible beyond the subject parcel. 

 
4. Noise and Vibration. Noise and vibration generated from any use shall be in compliance with and 

regulated by the MPCA rules. 
 
5. Outdoor Storage. Any outdoor storage shall meet the requirements of section 152.090 Outdoor 

Storage and section 152.091 Screening the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
6. Stormwater Management. Stormwater shall be managed in accordance with the National Urban 

Runoff Program (NURP) standards for the design of new stormwater ponds. The provisions of the 
Minnesota Pollution Control Agency’s urban “best management practices,” titled “Protecting Water 
Quality in Urban Areas,” shall be used to review any proposed development in order to reduce non-
point source pollutant loadings in stormwater runoff. 

 
7. Building Permit.  All building permits that are required, shall be approved, paid for and issued prior to 

construction. 
 
8. Expiration. Unless the City Council specifically approves a different time when action is officially 

taken on the request, site plans which have been approved shall expire without further action by the 
Planning Commission or the City Council within one year of the date the site plan is approved, 
unless the applicant has substantially started the construction of any building, structure, addition or 
alteration, or use requested as part of the approved site plan. The applicant shall have the right to 
submit an application for time extension before the expiration of the one year period and the 
applicant shall apply for an extension thereof by completing and submitting a request for extension, 
including the renewal fee as established by City Council resolution. The request for extension shall 
state facts showing a good faith attempt to complete any building, structure, addition or alteration, or 
use approved in the site plan. Said extension shall be presented to the Planning Commission for a 
recommendation and to the City Council for a decision. 

 
9. City Engineer Review. The applicant shall satisfactorily address any issues raised by the City 

Engineer, if any. 
 
Adopted by the Mayer City Council this 13th day of May, 2019. 

 
 

            
      Mayor Mike Dodge 

Attest: 
 
 
        
Margaret McCallum, City Administrator 
 
 
 
 
 

89



The following Council Members voted in favor:  
The following Council Members voted against or abstained:  
 

Whereupon the motion was duly passed and executed. 
 
 
Published:  
Filed with Carver County: 
 
 
 
Attachments: 
Exhibit A - 505 Shimmcor Street Aerial Location Map 
Exhibit B - Site Plan 
Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building 

 
 
 
 

90



Exhibit A - 505 Shimmcor Street Aerial Location Map 
 

 

91



Exhibit B - Site Plan 
 

92



Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 1 
 

93



Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 2 
 

94



Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 3  
 

95



Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 4 
 

96



Exhibit C - Renderings of the Proposed Building Page 5 
 

 
  
 

97



City of Mayer 
Planning Commission 

Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, May 7, 2019 

 
Commission Members Present: Council Liaison Tice Stieve-McPadden, Commissioners Les 
Hahn, Michael Sommerfeld, Don Wachholz, Barney Johnson and Patty Lanting. 
 
Commission Members Absent: Chairperson Tom Stifter. 
 
Others Present: Peter Johnson, Chad Zaback and David Weinard. 
 
Staff Present: City Administrator, Margaret McCallum 
             
 
CALL MEETING TO ORDER. 
Meeting called to order at 6:30 PM by Vice Chairperson Lanting. 
 
ADOPT AGENDA. 
A motion to approve the agenda was made by Commissioner Hahn and seconded by 
Commissioner Johnson.  Motion carried 6/0. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES. 
A motion to approve the March 5, 2019 Planning Commission minutes as amended was made by 
Commissioner Johnson and seconded by Commissioner Wachholz. Motion carried 6/0. 
 
SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A ACCESSORY BUILDING TO BE LOCATED AT 505 
SHIMMCOR STREET 
At 6:35 PM, City Administrator, McCallum, presented the information for the site plan review.   
 
The background information included a request from applicant, Peter Johnson, to approve a site 
plan review for an accessory building to be located at 505 Shimmcor Street.  
 
The property is zoned (C/I) Commercial/Industrial. The proposed building location would meet 
the required setbacks for the district. The use of storage is a permitted use in this district.  
 
A site plan was previously approved for this property in 2005 which consisted of multiple 
buildings and paved access to the buildings. The property currently has 3 existing storage 
buildings. The original plan called for 4 buildings with the ability for expansion.  
 
The proposed new building is different in size from the original site plan. The applicant is also 
planning to extend the paving to the north building line of the proposed building as shown in the 
original site plan.  
 
Site plans are required for all non-residential buildings.  
 
With regards to building materials, the applicant is required to satisfy the building design 
standards of the Code. The lower 30% of the exterior front of the building is to consist of 
materials that are comparable in grade and quality like brick, stone, concrete or wood.  
 

98



The Planning Commission, if it deems appropriate, can waive the 30% condition through a 
variance. It was deemed possibly applicable because the building is tucked behind the main 
building and not entirely visible from Shimmcor Street.  
 
The applicant would add the appropriate parking spaces; 5 additional spaces.  
 
Landscaping was installed with the original construction along Shimmcor and trees were planted. 
Therefore this requirement is satisfied.  
 
Outdoor storage has to meet City Code.  
 
Stormwater Management is being reviewed by the City Engineer. However the total new 
impervious surface would be 74.9% which is under the 85% requirement.  
 
No signage being proposed. Lighting has to meet code.  
 
If approved by the Commission staff recommended conditions related to building design 
standards, signage, lighting, noise and vibration, outdoor storage, stormwater management, 
building permits, expiration of the site plan and City Engineer review.  
 
Hahn asked which way the front of the building would face. Johnson informed that it would be 
looking west (facing Shimmcor) but that it is located in the back of the property behind the main 
building.  
 
Hahn asked was material the applicant would be using to satisfy the 30% front coverage.  
 
Johnson informed that he would be covering the building sides 100% with a finished cedar wood 
siding.  
 
Hahn expressed concern over a wood siding and the long-term maintenance of it. He stated that 
he would rather see a painted steel.  
 
Johnson said that the roof would be a blue color; the same as the other on-site buildings.  
 
Hahn stated that he would like to see the building match more.  
 
Johnson said that he is not against that and would take the Commission’s recommendation. He 
informed that he would be using the building for personal storage and use.  
 
Lanting said she liked uniformity as well. She said she likes the look of the building.  
 
A motion to recommend approval of the site plan with the conditions listed and with a 
variance to the 30% condition was made by Commissioner Hahn and seconded by 
Commissioner Wachholz. Motion carried 6/0. 
 
NEXT MEETING. 
Next scheduled meeting is Tuesday, June 4, 2019.  
 
COMMISSIONERS REPORT. 
Lanting asked about the Schmidty’s Gas station and if it was in the process of being sold. 
McCallum responded that it was sold.  

99



 
Hahn handed out information on storm shelters and proposed that the Commission look into 
creating an ordinance centered around creating shelters for developments that have slab on grade 
housing.  
 
He expressed concern for the residents of these properties not have adequate shelter in the event 
of severe weather.  
 
The Commission reviewed the information provided by Hahn and commended his work on the 
topic.  
 
Hahn moved to move forward with a storm shelter ordinance and to direct staff to do 
additional research on the topic and to bring back to the Planning Commission for further 
discussion and review. Wachholz seconded. Motion passed 6-0. 
 
 
ADJOUNRNMENT. 
A motion was made by Commissioner Wachholz and seconded by Commissioner Johnson to 
adjourn the meeting at 7:30 PM.  Motion carried 6/0. 

100


	0 Agenda 5.13.19 City Council Meeting Agenda
	1 Council Meeting 04.22.19
	APPROVE AGENDA
	PUBLIC COMMENT
	APPROVE CONSENT AGENDA
	PUBLIC WORKS
	COUNCIL REPORTS
	ADJOURN

	2 Work Session 04.22.19
	3 Payables
	May 13, 2019

	4 Ordinance Summary _Animals
	5 Memo - Liquor License_FillMeUp
	6 Resolution_Fire Department
	8 Memo Solar
	8 Novel Presentation
	Slide Number 1
	Summary
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Environmental Equivalencies Calculator
	NES Project Locations
	Slide Number 9

	8 Agreement
	VOS Commercial
	Solar Garden Subscription Agreement
	This Solar Garden Subscription Agreement is entered into on ________________________.
	SIGNATURE PAGE
	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement as of the date noted herein.

	8 City of Mayer Summary 4-12-19
	8 Novel Article
	8 US Solar Proposal
	8 City Attorney Memo_US Solar
	9 Memo - Cleaning Contract
	10 CC MEMO Site Plan Accessory Building 505 Shimmcor 5-9-19
	10 RESO Accessory Storage Bldg Site Plan 5-13-19 (1)
	CITY OF MAYER
	CITY COUNCIL RESOLUTION 05-13-19-19
	WHEREAS, the Peter Johnson (the "Applicant" and "Owner"), has submitted a request for site plan approval for a accessory storage building to be located in the Sell Commercial Industrial Park in conformance with Section 152.031 of the Zoning Ordinance ...
	WHEREAS, the Property is zoned (C/I) Commercial/Industrial District; and
	WHEREAS, the Property is designated Existing MUSA Infill/Redevelopment on the future land use map and no building permit shall be issued until a site plan has been reviewed and approved by the City; and
	WHEREAS, section 152.031 of the Zoning Ordinance outlines Information Requirements and Procedure for site plan approval; and
	Margaret McCallum, City Administrator

	11 PC Minutes 5-7-19
	City of Mayer
	Planning Commission
	Meeting Minutes
	Tuesday, May 7, 2019
	Commission Members Present: Council Liaison Tice Stieve-McPadden, Commissioners Les Hahn, Michael Sommerfeld, Don Wachholz, Barney Johnson and Patty Lanting.
	Commission Members Absent: Chairperson Tom Stifter.
	Others Present: Peter Johnson, Chad Zaback and David Weinard.
	Staff Present: City Administrator, Margaret McCallum
	CALL MEETING TO ORDER.
	Meeting called to order at 6:30 PM by Vice Chairperson Lanting.
	ADOPT AGENDA.
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES.
	SITE PLAN REVIEW FOR A ACCESSORY BUILDING TO BE LOCATED AT 505 SHIMMCOR STREET
	At 6:35 PM, City Administrator, McCallum, presented the information for the site plan review.
	The background information included a request from applicant, Peter Johnson, to approve a site plan review for an accessory building to be located at 505 Shimmcor Street.
	The property is zoned (C/I) Commercial/Industrial. The proposed building location would meet the required setbacks for the district. The use of storage is a permitted use in this district.
	A site plan was previously approved for this property in 2005 which consisted of multiple buildings and paved access to the buildings. The property currently has 3 existing storage buildings. The original plan called for 4 buildings with the ability f...
	The proposed new building is different in size from the original site plan. The applicant is also planning to extend the paving to the north building line of the proposed building as shown in the original site plan.
	Site plans are required for all non-residential buildings.
	With regards to building materials, the applicant is required to satisfy the building design standards of the Code. The lower 30% of the exterior front of the building is to consist of materials that are comparable in grade and quality like brick, sto...
	The Planning Commission, if it deems appropriate, can waive the 30% condition through a variance. It was deemed possibly applicable because the building is tucked behind the main building and not entirely visible from Shimmcor Street.
	The applicant would add the appropriate parking spaces; 5 additional spaces.
	Landscaping was installed with the original construction along Shimmcor and trees were planted. Therefore this requirement is satisfied.
	Outdoor storage has to meet City Code.
	Stormwater Management is being reviewed by the City Engineer. However the total new impervious surface would be 74.9% which is under the 85% requirement.
	No signage being proposed. Lighting has to meet code.
	If approved by the Commission staff recommended conditions related to building design standards, signage, lighting, noise and vibration, outdoor storage, stormwater management, building permits, expiration of the site plan and City Engineer review.
	Hahn asked which way the front of the building would face. Johnson informed that it would be looking west (facing Shimmcor) but that it is located in the back of the property behind the main building.
	Hahn asked was material the applicant would be using to satisfy the 30% front coverage.
	Johnson informed that he would be covering the building sides 100% with a finished cedar wood siding.
	Hahn expressed concern over a wood siding and the long-term maintenance of it. He stated that he would rather see a painted steel.
	Johnson said that the roof would be a blue color; the same as the other on-site buildings.
	Hahn stated that he would like to see the building match more.
	Johnson said that he is not against that and would take the Commission’s recommendation. He informed that he would be using the building for personal storage and use.
	Lanting said she liked uniformity as well. She said she likes the look of the building.
	A motion to recommend approval of the site plan with the conditions listed and with a variance to the 30% condition was made by Commissioner Hahn and seconded by Commissioner Wachholz. Motion carried 6/0.
	NEXT MEETING.
	Next scheduled meeting is Tuesday, June 4, 2019.
	COMMISSIONERS REPORT.
	ADJOUNRNMENT.




